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Pradheep Chhalliyil appeals the district court’s' adverse grant of summary
judgment in his removed erriployment discrimination action. After careful review of
the record and the parties’ arguments on appeal, we conclude that the grant of

~ summary judgment was proper. See Banks v. John Deere & Co., 829 F.3d 661, 665

(8th Cir. 2016) (grant of summary judgment is reviewed de novo). Accordmgly, we
affirm. See 8th Cir. R. 47B

- 'The Honorable Rebecca Goodgame Ebinger, United States District Judgé for
the Southern District of Towa.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF IOWA

Pradheep Chhalliyil
CIVIL NUMBER: 4:30—("~00291-RGE—SBJ
Plaintiff(s), '
V. ' S JUDGMENT IN A CIVIL CASE
Foodchain ID Group, Inc. and Heather
Secrist

Defendant(s),

[ ]3URY VERDICT. This action came before the Cout for trial by jury. The issues have
" been tried and the jury has rendered its verdict. ‘

DECISION BY COURT. This action came before the Court. The issues have been
considered and a decision has been remdered.

IT IS ORDERED AND ADJUDGED:

Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment is granted. Judgment is entered in favor of
defendants against plaintiff. - ' . ’

"Date: Qctober 29,2021
CLERK. U.S. DISTRICT COURT

faf K. Watson

By: Deputy Cletk

APPENDIX - A
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF JOWA
CENTRAL DIVISION

PRADHEEP CHHALLIYIL,

Plaintiff, No. 4:20-cv-00291-RGE-SBJ

v ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’

MOTION TO ORDER FACTS AS
UNDISPUTED AND DENYING
'PLAINTIFE’S MOTION FOR LEAVE

A TO SUPPLEMENT

FOODCHAIN ID GROUP, INC., and -
HEATHER SECRIST, 1nd1v1dually and in her
corporate capacities,

Defendants. , C N

L INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Pradheep Chhalliyil sues his former employer, Defendant FoodChain ID Group,
Inc., and Defendant Heather Secrist, a Senior Vice President at FoodChain, alleging national origin
discrimination aﬁd breach of contract. Defendants move for summary judgment, and pursuant to
Local Rule 56, include a statement of material facts. Chhalliyil resists Defendants’ motion and
respondis to the statement of material fécts.. Defendants move the Court to order certain facts -
contained in their statement of matérial facts as undisputed. Chhalliyil moves to suppleﬁlent his
respoﬁses to Defendants’ statement of undisputed facts. For the reasons stated below, the Court
grants Defendants’ motion and denies Chhalliyil’s motion.
L. IBACKGROUND

Chhalliyil filed a three-count complaint against Defendants: national origin
discrimination, in violation of the Iowa Civil Rights Act (ICRA), Iéwa Code § 216.1,‘ et seq.
(Count I); nat»ionallorigin discrithination, in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1'964,
42US.C. § 2000e‘ et seq. (Count II); and breéch of contract, in Violatioﬁ of Jowa law (Count IH). |

Am. Compl. 9 36—50, ECF No. 10. Defendants move for summary judgment on all counts. Defs.’

APPENDIX B
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Mot. Summ. J., ECF No. 33. Chhalliyil resists. P1.’s Resist. Defs.” Mot. Summ. J .» ECF No. 41. |
Accompanying their motion for summary judgment is Defendants’ statement of material facts.
Defs.’ Statement Undisputed Facts Supp. Mot. Summ. J., ECF No. 33-1. Defendants’ statemént of
material facts sets forth numbered paragraphs containing facts Defendants allege the parties do not
contest. See 7d. Chhalliyil responded to Defendants’ statement of material facts. P1.’s Resp. Defs.’
Statement Uhdispﬁted Facts, ECF No. 41-2.

Defendants mové under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56(e) for the Court to order certain
facts contained in their statement of material facts as undisputed. Defs.’ Mot. Order Facts
Undisputed, ECF No. 42. In his resistance, Chhalliyil denies some paragraphs, admifs certain
paragraphs, and requests leave to supplement his responses to some paragraphs. P1.’s Résist. Defs.’
Mot. Order Facts Undisputed, ECF No. 47. Separately, Chhalliyil mqves to supplement his
responses to Defendants’ statément of material facts. P1.’s Mot. Leave Suppl., ECF No. 49.

: Péragraphs 44-45 and 122-23 are the only factually contested paragraphs at issue in the
present motions. Chhalliyil denied paragraphs 44 and 45, and qualified péragraphs 122 and 123.
ECF No. 41-2 |4 4445, 122-123. In his resistance to Defendants’ motion to order facts as
undisputéd, Chhalliyil now denies paragraphs 44—45 and 122-23. ECF No. 47 q13; Pl.’.s Br. Supp.
Resist. Defs.” Mot. Order. Facts Undisi)uted 1, ECF No. 47-1. Because these paragraphs are the
only factually contested paragraphs, the Court addresses them specifically.

| Defendants’ statement of material fact in paragraph 44 states, “Secrist has her notes
from the meeting that contain ‘metadata’ Which confirm the time' and date the notes were
created. (Metadata Information, Chhalliyil Deposition exhibit 7; APP 121).” ECF No. 33-1 { 44.
Paragraph 45 states, “[t]he metadata from the notes confirm the notes were created in August of
2018 when Secrist states the meeting occurred. (Metadata Information, Chhailiyil Deposifioh

Exhibit 7; APP 121).” ECF No. 33-1 q 45. Chhalliyil denied paragraphs 44 and 45 with the same
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response, stating,

The metadata information shown in . . . Exhibit 7 . . . merely shows that Defendant
Secrist created a document on August 23, 2018, that was finished a week later on
August 30, 2018, but it otherwise has no evidentiary value. . . . Plaintiff denies that
Defendant Secrist met with him in August 2018 to dlSCLlSS his performance
shortfalls .

ECF No. 41-2 § 45. “Chhalliyil Deposition Exhibit 7” is contained in Defendants’ appendix

supporting their motion for summary judgment. See ECF No. 33-2 at APP 121. It shows metadata

from an electronic document provided by Secrist. See id. |
Defendants’ statement of féct in paragraph 122 states:

Maharishi International University is a non-profit university located in Fairfield,
Iowa, founded by Maharishi Mashesh Yogi. Maharishi emphasizes consciousness-
based education, specifically adhering to principles of transcendental meditation
and innovative sustainability, including non-genetically modified food products.
(Maharishi International University about MIU Website; APP 180).

ECF No. 33-19 122. Defendants’ statement of fact in paragraph 123 states:

John Fagan, FoodChain’s founder was intricately involved with Mabharishi

" University. Fagan practices transcendental meditation and is a non-GMO activist.
The tie between FoodChain and Maharishi was not beneficial to ' FoodChain in
terms of FoodChain’s presence in the market and in terms of what the competitors
used as leverage against FoodChain in the marketplace concerning non-GMO.
(Secrist Depo, p. 85:2—-18; APP 108).

Id. 9 123. Chhalliyil responded to paragraphs 122 and 123 as follows:

Plaintiff qualifies Defendants’ Statement of Undisputed Fact Paragraph[s] 122 [and
123]. Plaintiff asserts that Defendant Secrist was racist during meetings (Chhalliyil
‘Depo, p. 54:12-25, PL APP 57); that Defendant Secrist used racist terminology
such as ‘poor Asian quality’ when describing technology products available for his
laboratory use,-and ordered him to not use Asian products (Chhalliyil Depo, p.
55:1-6, PL APP 58, p. 63:1-16, PL. APP 62, p. 65:8-20, PL APP 63, p. 108:2, PL
APP 79, p. 111:22-25, PL APP 82); that Defendant Secrist used racist terminology
when describing products made in different regions of the world, such as “Chinese”

products (Chhalliyil Depo, 73:16-20, PL APP 64, . . . p. 74:16-24, PL APP 65, p.
111:22-25, PL. APP 82); that Defendant Secr[ls]t[ ] made statements about
distancing Defendant FoodChain ID from Fairfield, Iowa Maharishi residents and
employees at its Fairfield, lowa office location (Chhalliyil Depo, 55:13-25, PL
APP 58, p. 56:13-25, PL APP 59, p. 108:3—4, PL APP 79, p. 112:1, PL. APP 83);
[and] that other FoodChain ID employees complained to him about Defendant

3



- Case 4:20-cv-00291-RGE-SBJ Document 57 Filed 10/28/21 Page 4 of 12

Secﬁst being racist (Cilhalliyil Depo, 59:13-25, PL APP 60, p. 60:14 PL APP 61).
ECF No. 41-2 9 122-23. | '
| The Court charts the other paragraphs at issue in Defendants’ statement of material facts
‘ bglow. See ECF No. 33-1. The chart sets forth Chhalliyil’s initial responses to the paragraphs at

issue; Defendants’ objections to Chhalliyil’s responses; and Chhalliyil’s responses to Defendants’

motion to order each paragraph as undisputed. See ECF Nos. 41-2, 47, 47-1.

narrative

P. 56(c)(1)(B), (9)(2)

Paragraphs from - | Chhalliyil’s Response Defendants’ Chbhalliyil’s Response
Defendants’ to Defendants’ Objections to to Defendants’
Statement Statement Chhalliyil’s Motion to Order
Undisputed Facts, Undisputed Facts, Responses, Facts as Undisputed,
ECF No. 33-1 ECF No. 41-2 ECF No. 42-1 ‘ECF Nos. 47, 47-1
17,19, 20 | Qualifies Violates Fed. R. Civ. | Requests leave to
' P. 56(c)(1)(B), (c)(2) | supplement response
22,23 Qualifies Violates Fed. R. Civ. | Admits -
: P. 56(c)(D(B), (c)(2)
26 Qualifies Violates Fed. R. Civ. | Requests leave to
P. 56(c)(1)(B), (c)(2) | supplement response
28 Denies in part, Record contradicts Admits
qualifies in part response
29, 30, 31, 34, 35,38 | Denies in part, and Record contradicts Requests leave to
' - | admits in part response supplement response
32,33, 37, 39,40 Denie€s and qualifies | Record contradicts Requests leave to
‘ response supplement response
56,59 Denies and provides | Violates Fed. R. Civ. | Requests leave to
narrative P. 56(c)(1)(B), (c)(2) | supplement response
57,58 Qualifies and Violates Fed. R. Civ. | Admits
' provides narrative P. 56(c)(1)(B), (c)(2) )
61 Qualifies and Violates Fed. R. Civ. | Admits
: provides narrative P. 56(c)(1)(A)
62 Qualifies and Violates Fed. R. Civ. | Requests leave to
provides narrative P. 56(c)(1)(B), (c)(2) | supplement response
70! Denies and provides | Violates Fed. R. Civ. | Does not respond

I Chhalliyil fails to respond to Defendants’ motion as to paragraph 70. See ECF No. 42 ] 2; ECF
No. 47 94 2—4; ECF No. 47-1 at 2-4. The Court considers the factual statements contained in
paragraph 70 as undisputed for purposes of Defendants’ motion for summary judgment. See Fed.
R. Civ. P. 56(¢); LR 56.
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narrative, and adds
1

assertion

argumentative, and
makes improper
arguments

712 Qualifies and Violates Fed. R. Civ. | Does not respond
| provides narrative P. 56(c)(1)(B), (c)(2)
75,76,77 | Qualifies and Violates Fed. R. Civ. | Requests leave to
provides narrative P. 56(c)(1)(A) supplement response
78,79 Admits and adds Violates Fed. R. Civ. | Admits
assertion P. 56(c)(1)(A)
| 81, 82, 85 Denies for lack of Violates Fed. R. Civ. | Admits
information P. 56(c)(1)(A)
84 Qualifies and Violates Fed. R. Civ. | Requests leave to
provides narrative P. 56(c)(1)(A) supplement response
87 Qualifies and Violates Fed. R. Civ. | Admits
: provides narrative P. 56(c)(1)(A)
88, 89, 90 Qualifies and Violates Fed. R. Civ. | Requests leave to
provides narrative P. 56(c)(1)(A) supplement response
95,98,99, 100, 101, | Qualifies and Violates Fed. R. Civ. | Requests leave to
103, 106, 107 provides narrative P. 56(c)(1)(A) supplement response
102, 110, 118, 119, Qualifies and Violates Fed..R. Civ. | Admits -
120 ‘ rovides narrative P. 56(c)(1)(A)
114,115,116, 117 Qualifies and adds Violates Fed. R. Civ. | Admits
. assertion P. 56(c)(1)(A)
121, 124, 125, Qualifies and adds Non-responsive, Admits
. assertion argumentative, and
makes improper
: arguments
124, 125 Qualifies and Non-responsive, Admits
: provides narrative argumentative, and
makes improper
i arguments ,
126, 128 Qualifies, provides Non-responsive, Requests leave to

supplement response

127,129, 130, 131,

‘denies, or qualifies;
provides narrative

argumentative, and
makes improper
arguments

Qualifies, provides Non-responsive, Admits
132,133,134 narrative, and adds argumentative, and :
assertion makes improper
- arguments
135, 136 Neither admits, Non-responsive,

Admits

2Chhalliyil fails to respond to Defendants’ motion as to paragraph 71. See ECF No. 42 9 2; ECF
No. 47 97 2-4; ECF No. 47-1 at 2—4. The Court considers the factual statements contained in

" paragraph 71 as undisputed for purposes of Defendants’ motion for summary judgment. SeeFed.
R. Civ. P. 56(e); LR 56.
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142 | Qualifies and Violates Fed. R. Civ. | Admits
: provides narrative P. 56(c)(1)(A)
143 Denies and provides | Violates Fed. R. Civ. | Requests leave to
narrative P. 56(c)(1)(A) supplement response

- The parties do not request oral argument. ECF No. 42; ECF No. 47. Finding the parties’
brieﬁng and exilibits adequately present the issues, the Court decides the motion without oral
argument. See LR 7(c);:F‘ed. R. Civ. P. 78(b). |
Additional facts are set erth below as necessary.
III. LEGAL STANDARD
| Under Federal Rule of Civil Procédure 56, “[t]he court shaﬂ grént summéry judgm;nt if -
' the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as fo any material fact gnd the movant is entitled
to judgment as a matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P.>56(a). “A party asserting that a fact cannot be or v'
is genuinely disputed must support the assertion by: . . . citiﬁé to particular parts of materials in
the record.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1)(A). “If a party fails to properly support an assertion of fact or
: faiis to properly address énother party’s assertion of .fact as required by Rule 56(c), the court may:
(1) give an opportunity to properiy supporf or address the fact; [or] (2) consider the fact undisputed
_for purposes of the motion . . . .” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e)(1)—(2). |
| “Local Rule 56(b) serves as a sﬁpplerﬁent to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure _56..” Anderson
v. Bristol, Inc., 936 F. Supp. 2d 1039, 1045 n.1 (S.D. Iowa Mar. 25, 2013). Local Rule 56 fequires
the moving party to file a- “statement of material facts settiﬁg. foﬁh each material fact as to Which
the moving party contends there is no genuine issue to be tried.” LR 56(a)(3). The resisting party
must file a “response to the [moving party’s] statement of material facts in which the rc-asisting
party expressly admits, denies, 6r qualifies each of the moving party’s numbered statements of
faci ....” LR 56(b)(2). “The district court has considerable leeway in the application of its loéa‘l

- rules” and broad discretion to manage its docket. Martinez v. Union Pac. R.R. Co., 82 F.3d 223,
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227 (8th Cir. 1996); see Landis v. N. Am. Co., 299 U.S. 248, 253 (1936).
Iv. ANALYSIS

Defendants. argue the Court should order the facts identified in their motion asAu.ndisputed
because Chhalliyil’s response to Defendants’ statément of material_' facts fails to comply with
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56. ECF No. 42-1 at 1-2. Chhalliyil resists Defendants’ mbtioﬁ
as to paragraphs 44, 45, 122, and 123. ECF No. 47-1 at 1. He argues the assertions contained in
these paragraphs cannot be presented as admissible evidénce and should be denied under Federal
Rule of CivillProcedure 56(c)(2). 1d. As to p'aragraphs 17, 19, 20, 26, 29;35, 37-40, 56, 59, 62,
75-77, 84, 88-90, 95, 98, 99, 100-03, 106-07, 126, 128, and 143, Chhalliyil requests leave of
court to supplement his responses. /d, at 1-2. He moves separately to supplement fhese paragraphs.
ECF No. 49. As to paragraphs 22-23, 28, 57-58, 61, 78-79, 81-82, 85, 87, 102, 110, 114-21,
124525;'Chhalliyil now admits the factual information contained therein. ECF No. 47-1 at 1;
see also supra Part 11.

“The Southern District of Iowa’s Local Rule 56(b) is in place to ‘prevent a district
court from engaging in the proverbial search for a needle in the haystack.’” Anderson,
v936 F. Supp. 2d at 1046 (quoting N. W. Bank & Trust Co. v. B]r;s‘t 1ll. Nat’l. éank, 354 F.3d 721,
725 (8th Cir. 2003)). Local Rule 56&)) states:

A response to an individual statement of material féct that is not expressly admitted

must be supported by references to those specific pages, paragraphs, or parts of the

pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, admissions, exhibits, and

affidavits that support the resisting party’s refusal to admit the statement, with.
citations to the appendix containing that part of the record.
LR 56(b). “The failure to respond to an individual statement of material fact, with appropriate
appendix citations, may constitute an admission of that fact.” Id. “The cbncision and specificity

réquiréd by Local Rule 56] ] seek to aid the district court in passing upon a motion for summary

judgment, reflecting the aphorism that it is the parties who know the case better than the judge.”

7
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N.W. Bank & Trust Co., 354 F.3d at 725 (citin’gv Waldridge V AM. Hoechst Corp., 24 F.3d 918,
922 (7th Cir. 1994)). Local Rule 56 imposes “exacting obligation[s] . . . on a party contesting
summary judgment to highlight which factual averments are in conflict as well as what record
evidence there is to confirm the dispute.” Wa]dridge, 24 F.jd at 921-22.

The Court may permit Vsupplementat-ion of summary judgment materials if ;uch
supplementation will aid the record. In Anderson v. Bristol, Inc., the di§trict court considered
the plaintif©s amended filings in ruling on the defendant’s motion for summary judgment.

| 936 F. Supp. 2d at 1047. The court found the plaintiff’s amendments “would provide a fuller and
clearer record” and “justice requires the most complete ‘record possible when ruling dn a motion
for sﬁmmary judgment.” Id. However; the court néted the plaintiff’s amended material “frequently
rehashe[d] legal arguments covered in previous pleadings.” 1d Thus, the court did not consider
- the .improper legal arguments in ruling on the defendant’s motion for summary judgment. /d.
Iﬁ Northwest Bank & Trust Co. v. First lllinois National Bank, the Eighth Circuit affirmed the
district court’s ﬁndiﬁg that the pléintiff’ s response to defendant’s statement of material facts failed
" to comply with Local Rule 56. 354 F.3d at 725. The Eighth Circuit noted the plaintiff’s “filings
~ were replete with conélusoryvallegat,ions and legdl argument, obfuscating any concise and specific
statements of material fact.” /d. The Eighth Circuit upheld the district court’s decision to consider
the defendant’s statement of material facts as admitted for purposes of deciding the defendant’s
motion for summary judgmént. 1d. at 724-25. |
Considering the Court’s discretion in applying the local rules, the Court first addresses
Defendant’s motion to order paragraphs 44, 45, 122, and 123 undisputed. Then the Court addresses
Chhalliyil’s request to supplement his response to f/arious paragraphs of Defendants’ statement of
: 'mate'riall facts.

Péragraphs 44 and 45 concern the alleged August 2018 meeting between Secrist and

8
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Chhalliyil. The Coﬁrt accepts as true the existence of the metadata informatibn as stated in
paragraphs 44 and 44. Paragraph 44 states, “Secrist has her notes from the [August 2018]
meeting that contain metadata which confirm the time and date the notes were Created.” ECF
No. 33-1 § 44. Paragraph 45 states, ‘v‘The rhetadata from the notes confirm fhe notes weré

created in August of 2018 when Secrist states the meeting occurred.” Id. 45. Defendants’

phrasing in paragraphs 44 and 45 aéknowledges the occurrence of the August 2018 meeting. -

Sec ECF No. 33-1 1Y 44-45. However, in paragraph 42, Defendants recognize Chhalliyil disputes
the 6ccurrencc of the August 2018 meeting. /d. 9 42. In his response to paragraphs 44 and 45,
Chhalliyil denies “Defendant Secrist met with him in August 2018 to discuss his performance

shortfalls . . . .” ECF No. 41-2 9 44-45. Chhalliyil includes citations to his own deposition
' j

testimony denying the occurrence of the meeting. See 1d. He also qualifies his response, explaining
“[t]he Metadata information . . . merely shows that Defendant Secrist created a document on
August 23, 2018, that was finished a week later . . . , but it otherwise has no evidentiary value.”

Id. Because Chhalliyil fails to point to evidence raising a factual issue as to the metadata’s

existence, the Court considers the existence of the metadata information as undisputed for purposes .

of ruling on Defendants’ motion for .summafy judgment. See LR(56);AFéd. R. Civ. P. 56(e).

However, Chhalliyil’s denial as to the occurrence of the August 2018 meeting was appropriately

made. The Court recognizes a question of fact exists as to whether the August 2018 meeting |

occurred. The Court considers the factual dispute for purposes of ruling on Defendants’ motion
for summary judgmf:nt.3
Paragraphs 122 and 123 concern facts regarding Maharishi University. The Court finds

Chhalliyil’s responses to paragraphs 122 and 123 fail to comply with Local Rule 56. Paragraph

3 In the Court’s forthcoming order granting Defendants’ motion for summary judgment, the Court
finds the existence of the August 2018 meeting has no bearing on the Court’s analysis.

9
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.122 states, in part, “Maharishi International University is a non-profit univeréify located in
Fairfield, Jowa, founded by Maharishi Mashesh Yogi.” ECF No. 33-1 § 122. Paragraph 123
sfates, in part, “John Fagan, FoodChain’s founder was intricately involvned with Maharishi
Univefsity.” ECF No. 33-1 § 123. Chhalliyil responds to both paragraphs as follows: “Defendant
Secrist was racist during.me.etings .. . used fdcist terminology When describing technology
products available for his lab'oratory usé [and] when describing products made in different regions
of the World L ECF No. 41-2 99 122—'23. Chhalliyil’s statements are unresponsive and
argumentative. C. N, W. Bank & Trust Co., 354 F.3d at 725. Commenting on the moving party’s
, Statement of material facts fchrou'gh a response is not the a_ppropﬁate manner to argue to the Court.
See LR 56(b)(1)-(2); seé also N.W. 'Ban](& Trust Cb., 354 F.3d at 725. Chhalliyil fails to provide
information or citations that ;substantively relate to the factual allegations in paragraphs 122
g and 123 as required under Federal Rﬁle of Civil Procedure 56 and Local Rule 56 And he
, Ihake; allegations about Defendants_’~ conduct unrelated to the factual statefnents.v, See, eg.,
_VIECF No. 41-2 § 123 (“Défenda’nt Secrist was racist during the meetings.”). As such, the Coﬁrt
exercises its discretion under Federal Rule of Civil Procedufe 56(e) and Local Rule 56. See
Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e); LR 56(b). The Court considers the facts coﬁtainéd in paragraphs 122 and 1
123 undisputed for purposes of ruling on Defendants’ motion for summary jhdgment. SeeFed. R.
Civ. P. 56(e); LR 56(b).

Finally, Chhalliyil seeks to supplement additional paragraphs concerning projects and
| alleged inqidents from his employment at FoodChain. Chhalliyil failed to comply with Local Rule
56 in his response to paragraphs 17, 19, 20, 26, 29, 30-35, 3740, 56, 59, 62, 75~77, 84, 88-90,
95, 98-101, 103, 106—07, 126, 128, and 143. Chhalliyil’s résponses to Defendants’ statement of
material facts .were argumentative and failed to include citations to evid;:nce relating to the stated

facts. See LR 56(b); cf N.W. Bank & Trust Cb., 354 F.3d at 725. Instead, he included conclusory

10
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allegations to the factual statements offered by Defendants. See, e.g., ECF No. 41-2 9 75-77, 84;
cf. N.W. Bank & Trust Co., 354 F.3d at 725. In other instances, he provided argument rather
than drawing the Court’s attention to evidence demonstrating genuine triable issues. See, ‘e.g.,
ECF No. 41-2 99 76-77. In some paragraphs Chhalliyil denied or qualified factual statements
“derived from deposition testimony without providing»cqunter. evidence. Sée, e.g., 1d 1959, 75-77,
95-100. Chhalliyil provides no explanation as to why he did not corﬁply with Local Rule 56 or
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56 in his responses.

Supplementation of Chﬁalliyii’s response to Defendants’ statement of undisputed facts will
not remedy his noﬂcompliance with Local Rule 56. Chhalliyil fails to inform the Court about the
substance of his requested supplementation. He points to no additional evidence from which to
supplement his‘ answers. The Court is not concerned it lacks the record to appropriately decide
Defendants’ motion for summary judgment. C£ Anderson, 936 F. Supp. 2d at 1047. Defendants
and Chhalliyil provided extensive evidence in their appendices. See Defs.” Br. Supp. Mot. Summ.
J., ECF No. 36; Defs.” App. Supp. Mot_. Summ. J., ECF No. 33-2; P1.’s Br. Supp. .Resist. Defs.’
Mot. Summ. J., ECF No. 41-1; P1.’s App. Supp. Resist. Defs.” Mot. Summ. J., ECF No. 41-4. As
* such, the Court exercises its discretion under Local Rule 56 and Federal Rule of Civil Procedure
56(e) and denies Chhalliyil’s motion to supplement his responses to Defendants’ statement of facts
in paragraphs 17, 19, 20, 26, 29, 30-35, 37-40, 56, 59, 62, 75-77, 84, 88-90, 95, 98-101, 103,
106-07, 126, 128, and 143. Cf N.W. Bank & Trust Co., 354 F.3d at 725. The Court considers the
facts contained in these paragraphs as uhdisputed for purposes of déciding Defendants’ motion for
summary judgment. SeeFed. R. Civ. P. 56(e)(2); LR 56(b).

V. CONCLUSION
‘Chhalliyil providés no evidence indicaﬁng tﬁere is a factual issu_e as to the existence of thé

metadata Defendants allege is from the document created by Secrist in August 2018. As 'such, the

11
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Court considers the existence of the metadata noted in Defendants’ statement of mateﬁal facts
4paragraphs 44 and 45 as undisputed. Because Chhalliyil fails to comply with Local Rule 56 and
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56 as to paragraphs 122 and 123, the Court considefs these facts
undisputed as weH. As to supplementing his responsés, Chhalliyil poipts to no additional evidence
with which to supplement his responses to Defendants’ statement of material facts. He also fails
to demonstrate the record is incomplete and requires supplementation to aid the Court 1n deciding
Defendants’ motion for summary judgment.

Accordingly, ITIS ORDERED that Defendants FoodChain ID Group, Inc. and Heather
Secrist’vaotAion to Order Facts és Undisputed, ECF No. 42, is GRANTED.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Plaintiff Pradheep Chhalliyil’s Motion for Leave
to Supplement Pursuant to Rule 56(e)(1), ECF No. 49, is DENIED.

IT IS SO ORDERED. |

Dated this 28th day of October, 2021.

_ -
/ReBECcA GEoDoANg EBINGER
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF-IOWA

CENTRAL DIVISION
PRADHEEP CHHALLIYIL,
Plaintiff, No. 4:20-cv-00291-RGE-SBJ .
V. |
FOODCHAIN ID GROUP, INC., and _ ORDER GFANTING
HEATHER SECRIST, individually and in her DEFENDANTS® MOTION FOR
> 1 Y SUMMARY JUDGMENT

corporate capacities,

Defendants.

I | INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Pradheep Chhalliyil sues his former employer, Defendant F QodChain ID Group,
Inc., and Defendant Heather Secrist, a Senier Vice President at FoodChain. Chhalliyil alleges
claims for national origin discrimination un;ier the Towa Civil Rights Act and Title VII, and breach
of contract under Iowa law. Defendants move for summary judgment on all claims. Because
Chbhalliyil failé to generate a genuine iseue of material fact és to his claims, the Court grants
Defendants’ mofion fo_r summary judgment.' | |
iI. FACTUALVSUMMARY

The follewing facts are either uncontested or, if contested, viewed in the light most

: favorable te_ Chhalliyil, the nonmoving party.! See Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., Ltd. v. Zenith

Radjo Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 587 (1986).

Chhalliyil is of Indian national origin. Pl.’s App. Supp. Resist. Defs.” Mot. Summ. J.

1The Court granted Defendants’ Motion to Order Facts as Undisputed. Order Granting Defs.” Mot.
Order Facts Undisputed & Denying P1.’s Mot. Suppl., ECF No. 57; see Defs.” Mot. Order Facts
Undisputed, ECF No. 42. The Court denied Chhalliyil’s Motion for Leave to Supplement ECF
No. 57; see P1.’s Mot. Leave Suppl., ECF No. 49.

APPENDIX C
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PL. APP. 011, ECF No. 41-4. He immigrated to the United States from India. Defs.” Statement
Undisputed Facts Supp. Mot. Summ. J. § 1, ECF No. 33-1. In 2000, FoodChain hired Chhalliin
as a Senior Scigntist. 1d; Defs.” App. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. APP 109, ECF No. 33-2. FoodChain
is a.worldwide expert in the certification and technical testing of food.. ECF No. 33-1 § 6.
Bémd Schoel immigrated to the United States from Germany. /d. § 16. He is the Technical
Director at FoodChain. [é’. 9-13. At the time of the events alleged in the complaint, FoodChain’s
_ .research and development-departfnent .consisted of Schoel énd Chhalliyil. /d 1[ 123. Schoel
was Chhalliyil’s supewisdr and conducteci Chhalliyil’s performance reviews from‘2007‘ to 2017.
See id. 9 47-49. Chhalliyil viewed Schoel as a colleague. 1d. | 46.
In his role at FoodChain, Chhalliyil conéeptualized research and development ideas.
Id. § 15. After Chhalliyil completed the conceptualization stage, Schoel validated Chhalliyil’s
experiment results and translated a successful experiment into standard operating procedures.
Id. 9 18. Dan Smith, FoodChain’s Director of Operations, then worked the resultiﬁg standard
operating .procedures into FoodChain’s operations. /d. ﬂ 13, 19-20. Schoel and Smith ‘are
department heads at FoodChain. /d. ﬂ 119. Secrist, FoodChain’s Senior Vice President-and
VManaging Director of the Americas, would meét with FoodChain’s board of directors regularly
to presént 'in‘formation on the status of projects based on updates from Chhalliyil and- Schoel.
1d. 41 5, 113-14. Middle management and staff did not attend meetings with the board of directors.
1d 9§ 116. Secrist also conducted meetings with FoodChain’s department heads. See 7d. 1 117-18
Around November 2009, FoodChain received d.efective products from a supplier located
in India. /d. § 103. Secrist requésted quality assurance information from the supplier. /d. § 104;
see ECF No. 33-2 at APP 11.0—13' (email regarding quality assurance). Secrist informed Schoel
and Chilalliyil that FoodChain. wouid no long order products from the Indian sﬁpplier due; to the

" defective products -and lack of qualitybvcontrol information. ECF No. 33-1 9 103. Secrist also

2
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indicated FoodChain would not pqrchase products from “Asian” or “Chinese” start-up companies

that did not have extensive quality control informatién. 1d. 99 103, 106. Secrist used statements

like “no Asian product” and “no Asian company’s product.” /d. § 109. Secrist wanted to purchase

products from companies with quality control information in locations \;vhere FoodChain alyeady

operated to avoid importing products through customs. /d. § 105. FoodChain did not operate in |
India or China. /d. 9 107. Chhalliyil testified FoodChain received defective‘products from. the
Indian supplier in 2009 or 2010. Chhalliyil Dep. 62:25, 63:1-5, ECF No. 33-2 at APP 18-19.

In 2010 or 2011, Secrist told Chhalliyil she Waﬁted to distaﬁce FoodChain from Mabharishi
International Ur_livcrsity and FoodChain"s founder John Fagan. ECF No. 33;1 9 121. Mahe_lrishi
International Univefsity is a non-profit univers.ity located in Fairﬁeld; Iowa. Id. ﬂl 122. The
University emphasizes consciousness-based education and adheres to principles of transcendental
meditation and non-genetically modified food product sustainability. /d Fagan praétices
transcendental meditation and is a non-genetically modified food activist. /d. § 123. Secrist wanted
to separate FoodChain from Maharishi International University because franscendental meditation

is not a part of FoodChain’s business. /d. 9 124. She believed an association between Maharishi
International University, Fagan, and FoodChain did not beneﬁt'FoodChain againét competitors in
the food testing indu_stry. See id. § 123.
In 2018, FoodChain was developing a project called Direct Lyse. Zd. 9. Direct Lyse.was
a .stfeamlir_led testing method that reduced the time needed to prepare test samples. /d. ﬁ 9-10.
Schoel, Smith, Chhalliyil, and Secrist worked as a team on Direct Lyse to translate research and
-development ideas into the laboratory. See id. 1 22-25. The deadline for the Direct Lyse project
was December 31, 2018; Chhalliyil knew the Direct Lyse deadline. Id 19 56-57.
From April to May 2018, Chhalliyil took an extended leave- to travel to India. Jd q 26.

In approving the leave, Secrist told Chhalliyil it was important he ‘achieve the research

3
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and development objectives for 2018 when he returned. /d. When Chhalliyii returned from
India, Secrist grew concerned with his performance. .[d. 9 27. Secrist testified she met with
‘ Chhalliyil in August 2018, to discuss his lack of productivity, engagement, and initiative.
Secrist Dep..25:16-19, ECF No. 33-2 at APP 84. Sh'e addressed concerns with Chhalliyil’s
performaﬁce—such as failing to reach agreed-upon milestones, working on personal tasks
during work time, ﬂot working full eight-hour days, and not consistently presenting his data
using the auto-calculator so the Direct Lyse team could validate and evaluate the data. ECF
No. 33-1 99 30-31. Secrist set forth specific improi/em'ents Chhalliyil néedéd to accomplish by
December 31, 2018, “inclﬁding using the auto-calculator consistehtly, providing written
“summaries of his experiments, conducting more experiments per week, preparing for weekly
meetingé, and functioning as a team player.” Id. ] 34-35. Chhalliyil denies the August 2018
meeting occurred. /d: 9 42. Chhalliyil alleges Secrist spoke with Schoel about Chhalliyil's
- performance issues, and Schoel alerted Chhalliyil to Secrist’s concerns. Id. § 43. Secrist
prdvides “a summary of the discussion” she allegedly had with Chhalliyil at the August 2018
meeting. ECF No. 33-2 at APP 118-21. The summary includes metadata indicating the document
V\;as created in August 2018. Id. at APP 121. Secrist’s summary outlines her concerns with
' Chhalliyil’s work performance and directions for Chhalliyil to improve. /d. at APP 119-20.
Chbhalliyil alleges a different meeting with Secrist joccurr.ed in August 2018. ECF
No. 33-1 9 51. At this meeting, Chhalliyil alleges Secrist entered into an oral agreement with
him whereby if he completed the Direct Lyse project by December 31, 2018, Secrist would tell
upper management that Chhalliyil had “successfully brought a new technology . . . which [the]
* competitors d[id not] hav¢ and should be re§varded with stock options.” Zd. § 52; Chhalliyil
Dep. 159:23-160:6, ECF No. 33-2 at APP 61—62. Chhalliyil does not aliege Secrist promised a

specific quantity of stock options. ECF No. 33-1 § 53.

4
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Earlier in 2018, Secrist and Chhalliyil met to discuss a gene editing project. Id. § 74.
Chhalliyil alleges he told Secrist he would -not‘ create hew technology for the gene editing project
unless he received stock options. /d. § 75. Chhalliyil alleges See_rist promised hifn steck options if
~ he created the gene editing technology. /d. q 78. Secrist does not have the autho.rity eo grant

FoodChain stock options to employees. /d. 1 85. Secrist alleges she teld Chbhalliyil she would

communicate his request for stock options to FoodChain’s upper management. /d. § 77. She also

alleges only FoodChain executives have stock options /d. Secrist addressed Chhalliyil’e request

for stock options with FoodChain’s former CEO and FoodChain’s current CEO. 1d, ﬂ 81. Chhalliyil
‘-alleges FoodChain provides other employees with\stock options for signiﬁcant contributions
to FeodChain’s growth and performance. /d. 83 |

Secrist alleges she did not see clear improvements from Chhalliyil regarding the Direct
Lyse project. Id. § 54. Chhalliyil did not change his performance or engagement in any way from
August 2018 to December 31, 2018. Id. q 56. Chhalliyil did not complete the Direct Lyse testing
phase by the December 31, 2018 deadline. /d. §{ 58-59. Chhaﬂiyil did not provide written
summaries of his expeﬁme;lts. Id 9 54. On January 16, 2019, Secrist terminated Chhalliyil,
- explaining his | |

preductivity was low and there was insufficient progress on experiments and that

[his] engagement was low . . . [he was] not working full 8-hour days and working

on personal items while on work time, and there was a lack of follow-through with

a plan for increasing efficiency in productivity at work . . . , [and his] performance

" [from August 2018 to the date of termination had] not improved.
Chhalliyil Dep. 174:4-22, ECF No. 33-2 at APP 68.

Chhalliyil filed a three-count cofnplaint against Defendants, alleging national origin

discrimination in violation of the Iowa Civil Rights Act (1CRA), Iewa Code § 216.1, et seq.

(Ceunt I); national origin discrimination, in violation of Title VII of the Civil Righté Act of 1964,

42 US.C. § 2000e, et seq. (Count II); and breach of contract, in violation of Jowa laW (Count III).

5
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Am. Compl. 99 36-50, ECF No. 10. Now before the Court is D.efendants’ motion for summary
judgmént on all counts. ECF No. 33. Chhalliyil resists. ECF No. 41. The parties do not request
oral argument. /d.; ECF No. 33. Finding the parties’ briefing and exhibits adequately present the
issues, the Court decides the motion for sumrﬁary judgment without oral argument. See LR 7(c);
Fed. R. Civ. P. 78(b).
| Additional facts are set forth below as neceésary.
III. LEGAL STANDARD .
Under Federal Rule of Civil Pr‘ocedureA 56, the Court must grant a party’s motion for
summary judgmenf if no genuiné issues of material fact exist and the moving party is entitled to
..judgment as a matter of law. Fed. R..Civ. P. 56(a); Celotex Cozp. .V_. Catrett, 477U.S.317,322-23
(1986). A genuine issue of material fact exists where the issue “may reasonably be resolved in
favof of either party.” Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 250 (1986). “Only disputés
over facts thét might affect the outcome of the suit under the gbveming law will properly preclude
the entry of summary | judgment. Factual disputes that are irrelevant or unnecessary will notibe
counted.” Id. at 248. _ |
When‘anal'yZing whether a party is entitled to surrimary judgme_ht, a court “may' consider
only the portion of fﬁe submitted materials that is admissible or useable at trial.” Moore v. Indehar,
514 F.3d 756, 758 (8th Cir. 2008) (internal quotation marks dmitted) (qubting Wa]k'eriv. Wayne
Cnty., 850 F.2d 433, 434 (8th Cir. 1988)). The nonmoving party “receives the benefit of
all reasoﬁable inferences. supported by the evidence, but ﬁas ‘the ébligation to come forward
with specific facts showing that fhere is a genuine issue for trial.”” Atkinson v. City of Mt. View,
709 F.3d 1201, 1207 (8th Cir. 2013) (quoting Dahl v. Rice _Cﬁty., 621 F.3d 740, 743 (8th Cir.
2‘010)). “In order to establish the existence of a genuiné issue of material fact, a plaiﬁtiff inay not

merely point to unsupported self-serving allegations.” Anda v. Wickes Furniture Co., Inc.,

6
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517'F.3d 526, 531 (8th Cir. 2008) (cleaned up). “The plaintiff must substantiate [the] allegations
with sufficient probative evidence that would permit a finding in [plaintiff’s] favdr.” Smith v. Int’]
Pap¢r Co., 523 F.3d 845, 848 (8th Cir. 2008) (intemél quotation marks and citation omitted).
- “Where the record taken as a whole could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the nonmoving
| party,. there is no genuihe issﬁe for trial,” and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter
of law. Torgerson v. CI.Zf); ofRAocbester, 643 F.3d 1031, 1042-43 (8th Cir. 2011) (en banc) (iﬁternal
quotation marks and citation omitted). |
Courts do not “treat discrimination differently from other ultimate questions of fact.”
St. Mary’s Honor Ctr. v. Hicks, 509 U.S. 502, 524 (1993) (internal quotation marks and citation
omitted); accord T orgerson,v 643 F.3d at 1043. “Courts may not second-guess employers’ business
decisions” because “employers are free to make émployment decisions so long as they do -not
discn'minate unla§vfully.” Robinson v. Am. Red Cross, 753 F.3d 749, 754 (8th Cir. 2014) (internal
quotation marks and citation omitted).
IV. DISCUSSION
A. National Origin Discrjniination (Count I and Count Ii) |
Defendants argue they are entitled to summary judgment on Chhalliyil’s national Origiri
discrimination claims because Chhalliyil fails to establish a prima facie case of national origin
discrimination. Defs.” Br. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 15-19, 22-30, ECF No. 32-1. Additionally,
Defendants argue they provide legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons for terminating Chhalliyil,
‘and he fails to provide evidence demonstrating Defendants’ reasons for terminating him are
pretext. /d. at 29-30. Chhalliyil resists, arguing he establishes a prima facie case of national origin 4
discrimination. Pl.’s Br. Supi). Resist. Defs.’ Mof. Summ. J. 10-14, ECF No. 41-1. He also
“contends he puts forth sufficient evidence demonsfrating Defendants® actions were pretext for

national origin discrimination. /d. at 9.
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Because national origin discrimination claims under the ICRA and Title VII are subject
-to the safne analysis, the Court analyzes Counts I and II together. See Heisler v. Nationwide
Mut. Ins. Co., 931 F.3d 786, 794 (8th Cir. 2019).

Under Title VII, it is unlawful for an employer “to . . . discriminate against any individual
with respect to his compensation, termé, conditions, or privilegés of employment, because of such
individual’s . . . national origin . . . .” 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a)(1). The ICRA similarlyrstates it
“shall be an unfair or disCriminafory practice for any . . . [plerson to . . . discharge any employee,
or to otherwise discriminate in employment against . . . any employee because of the . . . national
origin ... ofsuch ... em‘ployee.”‘iowa Code § 216.6(1)(a). “The term ‘national origin’ on its face
refér_s to the country where a person was born, or, more broadly, the country from which his or her
ancestors came.” Espinoza v. Farah Mlg. Co., Inc.,414 U.S. 86, 88 (1973). Tc; prevail under either

‘the ICRA or Title VII, a plaintiff must show the adverée employment action was motivated by a
defendant’s discriminatory intent. See Pippen v. State, 854 N.-W.2d 1, 9 (lowa ‘2014) (“In a
-. disparate treatment case [under the ICRA], the plaintiff bears the burden of sh@wing he or she has
been harmed by discriminatory animus of the employer.”); 42' U.S.C. § 2000e-2(m) (“[A]n
unlawful employment practice is e_:stablished when the corﬁplaining ‘party demonstrates that raée,
coldr, religion, séx, or nationél origiﬁ was a motivating factor for any employment practice, even
though other faét_br’s also motivated th¢ practice.”). To present a claim for discrimination under the
ICRA and Title VII, a plaintiff must show either direct evidence or indirect evidence of unlawful
discriminatioh. Twymon v. Wells Fargo & Co., 462 F.3d 925, 933 (8th Cir. 2006).

Chhalliyil relies on indirect evidence to support his national origin discrimination claims.
ECF No. 41-1 at 8. The Couﬁ utilizes the familiar McDonnell Do&g]as framework for claims
of discrimination based on indirect evidence. See Carter v. Atrium Hosp.,‘997 F.3d 803, 808

(8th Cir. 2021); Vung v. SWiﬁPork Co., 423 F. Supp. 3d 640, 659 (S.D. Iowa 2019); McDonnell

8
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Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 802 (1973). Under the McDonnell Douglas ﬁamework,
the employee first bears the burden of establishing a prima facie case of discrimination. Carter,

997 F.3d at 808. “To establish a.prima facie case of discrimination, a plaintiff must show (1) he
is a member of a protected class, (2) he met his employer’s legitiméte expectations, (3) he
- suffered an advefsé employment action, and (4) the circumstances give rise to an inference of
‘discrimination.” Pye v. Nu Aire, Inc., 641 F.3d 1011, 1019 (8th Cir. 2011). Summary judgment is
proper on a discrimination claim if any essential element of the prima facie case is “not supported
by specific facts sufficient to raise a genuine issue for trial.” Grant v. City of B])ft]]evﬁl@ Ark.,
841 F.3d 767, 773 (8th Cir. 2016) (internal quotation marks and citation 6mitted).

If the employee establishes a prima facie case, the burden shifts to .the employer
to articulate a legitimate, nondiscrimihatory reéson for the adverse employment action. Pye,‘
641 F.3d at 1019; see also McDonnell Douglas, 411 U.S. at 802. If the employer meets this
burden, the plaintiff must show the employer’s actions were pretext for unlawful discrimination.
Beas]e){ v. Warren Unilube, Inc., 933 F.3d 932, 938 (Sth Cir. 2019); see also McDonnell Douglas,
411 U.S. at 804-05. “The ultimate burden of i)ersuading the trier of fact that the defendant
intentionally discriminated against the plaintiff remains at all times with the plaintiff.” Beaé[ey,
933 F.3d at 937 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

Applying the McDonnell Douglas framework, the. Court finds Chhalliyil fails to
demonstrate the circumstances surrounding his termination -give riée to an inference of
discrimination as required to establish a prima facie case. Even if Chhalliyil established a prima
facie case,‘he fails to show Defendants’ legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons for terminatiﬂg h1m
were pretextual. The Court grants Defendants’ motion on Counts I and II.

1. ‘Prima facie case of national origin discrimination

Defendants do not contest that Chhalliyil is a member of a protected class or that

9
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he experienced an ad\‘ferse‘employment action. See ECF No. 32-1 at 19-30. The Coult:ﬁnds
Chhélliyil fails to demonstrate a genuine issue of material fact as to an\ inference of
discrimination, as required to demonstrate a prima facie case of national origin discrimination.
Cf Pye, 641 F.3d at 1019. As such, the Court need not examine the final element of thé '
prima facie case: whether Chhalliyil met his employer’s legitimate expectations. C¥. id.

A plaintiff can establish an inference of discrimination “in a variety of ways, such as by
showing more-favorable treatment of similariy-situated employees who are not in the protectéd
class, or biased comments by a decisionmaker.” Id. A plaintiff’s evidence must be “sufficiently
related to the adverse employment action in question to support” an inference of discﬁmination.
Walton v. McDonnell Douglas Corp., 167 F.3d 423, 426 (8th Cir. 1999).

Chhalliyil points to no evidence iﬁdicating Defendants treated similarly situated employeés
not in his protected class preferentially. Cf Pye, 641 F.3d at 1019. Chhalliyil alleges Schoel and
Smith were given promotions and wefe not “disciplined for failing to meet the team’s de;adline.”
ECF No. 41-1 at 9; see a];qo Chhalliyil Dep. 126:21-127:6, ECF No. 33-2 at APP 46—47. Schoel
and Smith were not similarly situated to Chhalliyil. The record demonstrates Schoel was
FoodChain’s Technical Director a1_1d Chhalliyil’s supervisor. See ECF No. 33-2 at APP 109.
Schoel’.s job. included “tak[ing] the technoloéy from R&D and . . . giv[ing it] to production”v by
validating technology ideas Chhalliyil developed and creating standard operating procedures.
Chhalliyil Dep. 127:18—21, 135:17-137:2, ECF No. 33-2 at APP 47, 49-50. Smith was
FoodChain’s Director of Operétions' and oversaw eleven employees in a separate department from
| Chhalliyil’s. ECF No. 33-2 at APP 109. Smith was a “technician,” who translated the standard
operating procedures and integrated them into FoodChain’s operation and workflow. Chhalliyil .
Dep. 137:3-9, ECF No. 33-2 at APP 50. Smith also worked with customers, while Chhalliyil was

“a research scientist and develop[ed] technologies.” Jd. at 130:22-24, 137:3-9. Schoel and Smith

10
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did not have the same job title or responsibilities as Chhalliyil. See id. at 135:3-10. Schoel
- supervise Chhalliyil’s work, and Smith worked in a different department than Chhalliyil.
Chhalliyil provides..no evidence indicating Schoel and Smith were similarly situated to him.
Finally, even if Chhalliyil could show any coworkers not‘ in a protected class were similariy
situated to him, nothing in the record indicates Defendants’ alleged preferential behavior toward
any of Chhalliyil’s coworkers was rélated to .his termination.. C£ Walton, 167 F.3d at 426.
Chhalliyil fails to point to sufficient evidence of favorable ﬁeatment of similarly situated
employees so as fo support an inference of discrimination. |

Secrist’s alleged discriminatory statements are not sufficiently related to Chha'llliyil’s.
termination to support an inference of discrimination. Cf. id The record indicates Secrist
referenced the geographicrloc'ati'ons of companies that provided defective products to FoodChain
using statements such as “no Chinese” and “no Asian product.” See Chhalliyil Dep. 62:22-63:16,
65:8-13, 75.:4—25, 76:1-6, ECF No. 33-2 .at APP 18-22; Secrist Dep. 77:18-79:10, ECF
No. 33-2 at APP 103-05. Secrist also commented to Chhalliyil about distancing FoodChain
from Méharishi International University and Fagan. ECF No. 33-1 § 121. The record does not
indicate Secrist’s statements referred to Chhalliyil or identified Chhalliyil by his national origin.
Cf Walton, 167 F.3d at 427 (finding plaintiff failed to establish a prima facie case of age
discrimination when employer’s statementé could not be understood as derogatory to older
employees, generally, and the employer made no specific reference to the plaintiff’s age). The
record also provides no indication Secrist._ever associated Chhalliyil with Maharishi International
- University. Secrist’s statements about “Indian” or “Asian” companies and her comments about
'Maharishi University do not “create a reasonable inference of discrimination, as they do not
suggest discriminétory animus without ;esofting to speculation.” Xuan Huynh v. U.S. Dept. of |

Transp., 794 F.3d 952, 959—60 (8th Cir. 2015) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). -
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Additionally, Secrist’s statements and corrimeﬁts are not temporally linked to Chhalliyil’s
termination. Cf Walton, 167 F.3d at 426. Secrist’s statements about Asian companies were °
made in 2009 to 2012 and hef comments-about Maharishi International University were made
in 2010 or 201 1—many years before Chhalliyil’s termination in January 2019. See Chhaliiyil
-Dep. 62:25-63:1, 63:17-21, 65:23-24, ECF No. 33-2 at APP 18-20: ECF No. 33-1 § 121.
Given the lapse of time, Secrist’s statements and comments are insufficient to support an
inference of discrimination. Cf. Floyd v. State of Mo. Dept. éfSocizd Servs., Div. of Family Servs.,
188 F.3d 932, 938 (8th Cir. 1999) (finding the plaintiff’s coworkers’. “Christian references”
did nc;t constitute the basis f(_)r an inference of discrimination in the pretext analysis because
they were not temporally linked to the adverse employmenf action). Chhalliyil faiis to poiht to
sufficient evidence of discriminatory s;[atements by a decision maker té support an inference of
discﬁmination. |

o Cﬁhalliyil provides no other evidence indicating Defendants’ treatment of him gives rise
to an inference of discrimination. Cf. Pye, 641 F.3d at 1019. Chhalliyil alleges he was denied stock
options, denied his paycheck, denied promotion, and excluded from meetings due to his natidnal
origin. ECF No. 41-1 at 11-14. Chhalliyil provides no evidence demonstrating similarly situated
empioyees or even non-management employees repeived stock options whén he did not.
)Additionally, the record contains no evidence Defendants withheld or denied Chhalliin pay. In
fact, Chhalliyil testified th;clt when he was paid the Wrong amount, FoodChain’s accounting
department remedied the error. Chhalliyil Dep. 99:1-100:2, ECF No. 33-2 at APP 36-37. As to
Defendants’ failure to promote him, the record indicates Chhalliyil was the sole research and
development scientist. /d. at APP 109. Chhalliyil points to no evideﬁce of an employment ppsition
at FoodChain into which he could be prdmote(i or of a research and development departmeﬁt‘

Chhalliyil could have presided over. In fact, Chhalliyil testified he did not want Schoel’s
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supe'ryisory position and did not apply for it. ECF No. 33-1 9 135; Chhalliyil Dep. 127:16-22,
ECF No. 33-2 at APP 47. As to Chhalliyil’s exclusion from meetings, the record indicates Secrist
. routinely presented information she received from Schoel and Chhalliyil to FoodChain’s board of
directors. ECF No. 33-1 9 114-15, 118-19.

Ultimately, Chhalliyil speculates as to the signiﬁcance of the alleged harms. Speculation
fails to generate genuine issues of material fact as to discriminatory animus. Cf Xuan Huj/ub,
794 F.3d at 959-60. It is not the Court’s role to second-guess employers business decisions as
long as they do not discriminate unlawfully Cf Robinson, 753 F.3d at 754. Chhalhyll fails to put
forth evidence sufficient to generate a genuine issue of material fact as to whether Defendants
treatment of him gives rise to an inference of discrimination.

Because Chhalliyil fails to demonstrate a genuine issue of material fact as to an inference
of national origin discrimination in Defendants’ decision to terminate him, he cannof establish a
prima facie case of national origin discrimination..See» Walton, 167 F;3d at 426-28. Defendants .
are entitled to summary judgment on Counts [ and II on this ground. C£’ Grant, 841 F.3d at 773.

| 2. Legifimate; nondiscrinﬁnatory reason

Even assuming Chhalliyil couid establish a prirna facie case of national origin
discrimination, Defendants offer legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons for 'terrninating Chhalliyil.
See ECF No. 32-1 at 20-22. An explanation of legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons “must be
clear and reasonably specific.” Canning v. Creighton Univ., 995 F.3d 603, 611 (8th Cir. 2021)‘
(internal quctation marks omitted) (quoting 7ex. Dep’t of Cmty. Afis. v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248,
258 (1981)). “[T1his burden is not 'onerous and does not require pnoof by a preponderance of the
evidence.” /d. (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). | |

Defendants submit they terminated Chhalliyil because .his productivity was iow, he made

insufficient progress on experiments, his work performance from August 2018 had not improved,
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and he failed to meet projecf deadlines, including' the Direct Lyse project deadline of December
31, 2018. See ECF No. 32-1 at 8, 29, Chhalliyil Dep. 17:44-176:10, ECF No. 33-2 ét APP 68-70.
Defendants’ explanation is clear and Speciﬁc. Cf Canning, 995 F.3<i at 611. Secrist’s deposition
testimony and Schoel’s affidavit support Defendaﬁts’ proffered. ‘explanation. See Secrist Dep.
72:17-21, ECF No. 33-2 at APP 102; Chhalliyil Dep. 169:11-19, 174:4-175:13, 175:23-176:4,
ECF No.‘33-2 at APP 64, 68-70; Schoel Aff. ] 9-10, ECF No. 33-2 at APP 178. As such,
Defeﬁdants provide legitimate, nopdiscriminatory reasons for terminating Chhalliyil.
3. P;‘etext

Because Défendaﬁts present legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons for their decision-'
to terminate Chhalliyil, the burden shifts to Chhalliyil to demonstrate Defendants’ reasoﬁs are
pretexf for national origin discrimination. See Beasley, 933 F.3d at 938. Chhalliyil fails to meet
this burden. Because he cannot show Defendants’ legitimate, noﬁdisc;riminatory reasons for
terminating him were pretext for national origin discrimination, his nationql origin discrimination
claims féil. .

Té show a proffered reason is pretext for discrimination, a plaintiff must establiéh
'“b'otb‘that the reason was false, and'that dis_criminationlwas the .real reason.” St. Mazy’s Honof
Ctr., 509 U.S. at 515; accord Maxfield v. Cintas Cozz.).A No. 2,427 F.3d 544, 551 (8th Cir. 2005).
The plaintiff’s burden to show pretext “requires more substantial ev.idence of discrimination than
required to make a prima facie case” because the evidence of ‘pretext ivs viewed in light of
the employer’s profféred reason. Johnson v. Securitas Sec. Servs. USA, Inc., 769 F.3d 605, 611
.(8th Cir. 2014). A plainti'ff may demonstrate pretext by showing an employer: treated similarly
situated employees differently, failed to follow its own policies, or shifted its explanation for
its employmeﬁt décision. EdWards v. Hiland Roberts Dariry, C'o.,_‘ 860 F.3d 1121, .1125—26>

(8th Cir. 2017). A plaintiff may also demonstrate pretext by showing a decisionmaker made
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biased comments. Pye, 641 F.3d at 1019. “The evidence must do more than raise doubts about
the wisdom and fairness of the employer’s opinions and actions—it must create a real issue as to
the genuineness of the employer’s perceptions and beliefs.” Rooney v. Rock-Tenn Converting Co.,
- 878 F.3d 1111, 1118 (8th Cir. 2018). To survive summary judgment, a plaintiff must point to
“enough admissible evidence to raise genuine doubt as to the legitimaéy of the defendant’s
moﬁ,ve.” DePriest v. Milligan, 823 F.3d 1179, 1186 (8th Cir. 2016) (internal quotation marks and
citation omitted) (analyziﬁg pretext in gender discrimination context).

“At the pretext stage, the test for determining whether employees are similaﬂy situated to
a plaintiff is a rigorous one.” Bone v. G4S Youth Servs., LLC, 686 F.3d 948, 956 (8th Cir. 2012) -
~ (internal quotation marks and citation omitted); The plaintiff must “show that [he] and the
empioyees outside .of [his] protected group Were similarly situated in all relevant respects.” /d.
(intel;nal quotation marks and citation omitted). “[T]he individuals used for comparison musi have
dealt with the same supervisor, have been subject to the same 'standardé, and engaged in the same
conduct without ariy mitigating .or distinguishing circumstances.” Clark v. Rzm_yon, 218 F.3d 915,
918 (8th Cir. 2000). |

As discussed above in the prima facie case anélysis, Chhalliyil fails to identify sufficient -
comparators to demonstrate discrimination was the real reason for his termination. See supra
Part IV.A.1; cf Edwards, 860 F.3d at 1125-26. Schoel and Smith are insufﬁcignt comparators,
and the record does not indicate any other similarly situated coworkers not in Chhalliyil’s protected
class were treated differently than Chhalliyil. See supra Paﬁ IV.A.L.

Chhalliyil - provides no evidence indicating Defendants’ proffered reasons for
terminating him for failure to meet project deadlines were false. Cf Maxfield, 427 F.3d at 551.
C.hhal_liyil' contends Secrist did not meet with him in August 2018 regarding his performance.

ECF No. 33-1  42. He also indicates Direct Lyse, like other projects at FoodChain, was a team
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project with Secrist, Scﬂoel, and Smith. ECF No. 44-1 at 9; see also Chhalliyil Dep. 135:14—22,
137:3-9, 147:3-12, ECF No. 33-2 at APP 49-50, 54. Chhalliyil argues he was the only person
who was fired for failure to compléte Direct Lyse by the deadline, and he could not complete
the prbject because he did not have the proper equipment. See ECF No. 41-1 at 9. The record
does not support Chhalliyil’s alleged recollection of the events, and he relies solely on his
own self—serving. allegations. Cf Anda, 517 F.3d at 531. The record indicates Chhalliyil knew
the Direct Lyse deadline was December 31, 2018, and the Direct Lyse team relied on Chhalliyil
to complete his work in order for Schoél and Smith to complete thei'rs.- See Chhalliyil
Dep._ 135:17—22, 148:20-149:8, 155:11-13, ECE No. 33-2 at APP 49, 55—56, 60. The record
‘also demonstrates Secrist authorized the purchase of a pipette Chhalliyil requested for'._the
Direct Lyse project, and FoodChain‘proVided equipment the research team agreed on for the
Direct Lyse projéct. See Secrist Dep. 62:14-19, ECF No. 33-2 at APP 99; Schoel Aff. 11—14,‘
ECF No. 33-2 at APP 178. Chhallilyil did ﬁot complete his work on the Direct Lyse project by
the deadline. See 7d. at 152:2—4. |

Chhalliyil fails to'show his failure to improve his work deficiencies was a false reason'
to terminate him. Cf Maxﬁc]d, 427 F.3d at 551. Even assuming the Augﬁst 2018 meeting
with Secrist regarding Chhalliyil’s work deﬁcienéies did not oceur, Chhalliyil was aware of
some areas for improverhent in his wérk and knew the Direct Lyse deadline. See Chhalliyil
Dep. 168:4-21, ECF No. 33-2 at APP 63. Chhalliyil testified he made no improvements to his
work after deficiencies were brought to his attention and did not meetv the Direct Lyse deadline. |
See id. at 152:2—4, 169:11-15. Nothing in the record creates “a .real issue” as to Defendants’
stated reasons for terminating Chhalliyil. C¥ Rooney, 878 F.3d at 1118.

Chhalliyil provides no other evidence sﬁggesting discrimination was the real'reasén for his

termination. Cf. Maxfield, 427 F.3d at 551. The record contains no evidence Defendants shifted

16



Case 4:20-cv-00291-RGE-SBJ Document 58 Filed 10/28/21 Page 17 of 20

their reasons for terminating Chhalliyil. Cf Edwards, 860 F.3d at 1126. The only evidence in the
record as to national origin are Secrist’s statements from 2010 to 2012 including, “Indian
companies” or “Asian quality is .poor” or “No Chinese,” and Secrist’s 2010 and 2011 comments
about distancing FoodChain from Maharishi International University. See, e.g., Secrist Dep;
i 77:23-78:22, ECF No. 33-2 at APP 103-04; Chhalliyil Dep. 55:2-19, 62:83-12, 62:22-63:24,
76:1-6, ECF No. 33-2 at APP 15, 18-19, 21, 23. .Secriét’s use of terms sﬁch as “Indian” and
- “Asian” in reference to small companies in those geographic regions aﬁd in a éontexf removed
from Chhalliyil or his termination does.not “raise genuine doubt as to the legitimacy o-f’
Defeﬁdants’ reason for terminating Chhalliyil. Cf DeP;ejst, 823 F.3dat1 1865 Secrist’s “comments
do not suggest discriminatory animus without resorting to speculation.” 7: akele v. Mayo Clinic,
576 F.3d 834, 839 (8th Cir. 2009) (finding no i)retext based on defendants’ alleged references to
foreigners)..Similarly, Secrisf’s 2010 or 2011 comments about distancing FoodChain from
_ Maﬁarishi International 'University dées not bear on Defendants’ explanation for terminating
Chhalliyil in 2019. Cf id. As explained.above, these statements e;nd references do not demonstrate.
an inference Qf discrimination against Chhalliyil. See supra Part IV.A.1. The record contains nd
evidence that discrimination v;/as the real reason for Chhalliyil’s termination. |
Chhalliyil fails to meet his burden to demonstrate Defendants’ proffered reasons for
terminating him were pretext for discrimination. Cf Maxfield, 427 F.3d at 551. Because Chhalliyil
fails to identify a genuine issue of 'material fact as to pretext‘, his claims for national origin
discrimination must fail. Defendants are entitled to sumrﬁary Jjudgment oﬁ Counts I and II.
-B.  Breach of Contract (Count III)
Defendants argues they are entitled to summary judgment on Chhalliyil’s claim for
breacii of ‘contract as‘ a matter of law. ECF No. 32-1 at '3(5—32. Defendants érgue 'tlile record

contains no evidence demonstrating the existence of an oral contract between Chhalliyil and
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Secrist or Chhalliyil and FoodChain. Id'.vat 31-32. Chhalliyil resists, arguing aﬁ oral contract
existed. ECF No. 41-1 at 15. He contends the contract terms were clear: “if he worked with
the team and successfully completed the project byl December 31, 2018, he would receiye
. extra compensation in the form of stock options.” /d Chhalliyil also argues D‘efendénfs did
| not provide the necessary equipment .for him to complete the project by the deadline. /d. at 5;
ECF No. 10 9 48.

To eétablish a breach of contract claim uﬁder Iowa law, a plaintiff must dgmonstrate: '

(1) the existence of a contract; (2) the terms and cc;nditions of the contract; (3) that

[plaintiff] has performed all the terms and conditions required under the contract;

(4) the defendant’s breach of the contract in some particular way; and (5) that

plaintiff has suffered damages as a result of the breach.
lowa Mortg Ctr, LLC. v. Baccam, 841 N.W.2d 107, 110-11 (Jowa 2013) (internal quotatioh
marks omitted) (quoting Mo]lo Oil Co. v. River City Ford Truck Sales, Inc., 578 N.W.2d 222, 224
(Iowa 1998)). “To prove an oral contract, the terms must be sufficiently definite for a court to |
determine with certainty the duty of each party and the conditions rgelétive to performance.”
Bowser v. PMX Indus., Iné., 545 N.W.2d 898, 899 (Iowa 1996). “A party breaches a contract
when, without legal excuse, it fails to perform any promise which forms a whole or a part of the
contract.” Molo O1l Co., 578 N.W.2d at 224. |

Chhalliyil fails to provide evidence demonstrating the existence of an oral contract.
Cf Baccam, 841 N.W.2d‘ at 110-11; see ECF No. 41-1 at 15. Chhalliyil appears to allege
Secrist promised him stpck opﬁons on two different occasions relating to two separate projects.
See ECF No. 33-1 9 51-53 (Direct Lyse), 74—’78 (gene editing). In August 2018, Secrist allegedly
promised Chhalliyil stock options if he completed the Direct Lyse proj ect by December 31, 2018.

See 1d. ] 51-53. Earlier in 2018, Secrist allegedly promised him stock options if he éompleted a

gene editing project by the end of 2018. See 7d. Y 74—78. Chhalliyil points to no evidence—aside

18



Case 4:20-cv-00291-RGE-SBJ Document 58 Filed 10/28/21 Page 19 bf 20

from his own self-serving statements—as to the existence of an oral contract and its terms on
either project. See Chhalliyil Dep. 117:13-23, 119:20~120:25, 159:25-160:10, ECF No. 33-2 at
APP 40-42, 61-62; ECF No. 41-1 at 15. Self-serving allegatiohs cannot form the basis of a
genuine issue of material fact at the summary judgment stage. Cf£ Anda, 517 F.3d at 531.
Further, the record does not support the existence of an o.ral contract for stock oétions as to
either project. Secrist did not have the authority to provide stock options to employees. Secrist
Dep. 59:4-11, ECF No. 33-2 at APP 98.AFood.Chain only prox)ided executives with stock
options. /d. at 58:17-22. Chhalliyil fails to show an individual with authority to grant stock
options promised them to him or that he held an executive position at FoodChain. .This evidence
is insufficient to raise a genuine issue of fact as to the existénce of an oral contract for st;)ck options.

Additionally, .fhe record contains insufficient evidence for the Court tov determine
with “certainty the duty of each party and the conditions relative to performance.” Bowser,
545 N.W.2d at 899. C»Ihhalliyilvtestiﬁed, Secrist promised to “give [hi-m] a decent réward,” for the
Direct Lyse project, but Chhalliyil ‘does not point to evidence indicating the quantity of stock
Secrist allegedly promised him. Chhalliyil Dep. 160:7-10, ECF No. 33-2 at APP 62. Nor does
Chhalliyilv point to ény evjdence regarding the quantity of stock allegedfy promised for his work
on the gene editing project. These indefinite terms are insufficient to form an oral contract for
either the Direct Lyse or the gene editing project. Cf. Baccam, 841 N.W.2d at 110-11. Because
-Chhalliyil fails to demonstrate a genuine issue of material fact as to the existence of an oral
contract, his claim for breach of contract fails as a matter of law. Defendants are entitled to
summary judgment on Count III. '
V. CONCLUSION

Chhalliyil fails to estéblish a prima facie case for national origin discrimination under the

- ICRA or Title VII. He also fails to generate a genuine issue of fact as to whether Defendants’
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proffered reasons for terminating him were pretext for national origin discrimination. Finally,
Chhalliyil fails to present eviider‘lce sufficient to demonstrate the existence of an oral contract.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED that Defendants FoodChain ID Group, Ing.’s and
Heather Secrist’s Motlon for Summary Judgment, ECF No. 33, is GRANTED.

The Clerk of Court shall enter judgment in favor of Defendants and against Plaintiff. The
}Sarties are responsible for their costs.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated this 28th day of October, 2021. %‘6\/ Q«ﬁ( L %\/
/REBECCA G@Aﬂ@ EBINGER

UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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